72056-2

NO. 72056-2-1

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

72056-2

.

# STATE OF WASHINGTON.

Respondent.

v.

ADAN YUSUF,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable William L. Downing, Judge

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
D.	ARGUMENT
	THE MANDATORY JURY INSTRUCTION, "A REASONABLE DOUBT IS ONE FOR WHICH A REASON EXISTS," IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL
	1. <u>WPIC 4.01's language improperly adds an articulation</u> <u>requirement</u>
	2. <u>WPIC 4.01's articulation requirement impermissibly</u> <u>undermines the presumption of innocence</u>
	3. <u>WPIC 4.01's articualtion requirement requires reversal</u> 12
E.	CONCLUSION

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# WASHINGTON CASES

a 1

<u>In re Electric Lightwave, Inc.</u> 123 Wn.2d 530, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994)12	
<u>State v. Anderson</u> 153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009)10	
<u>State v. Bennett</u> 161 Wn.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007)	
<u>State v. Emery</u> 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)	
<u>State v. Johnson</u> 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010)9	
<u>State v. Kalebaugh</u> 179 Wn. App. 414, 318 P.3d 288 <u>review granted</u> , 180 Wn.2d 1013, 327 P.3d 54 (2014)11	
<u>State v. Venegas</u> 155 Wn. App. 507, 228 P.3d 813 (2010)10	
<u>State v. Walker</u> 164 Wn. App. 724, 265 P.3d 191 (2011)	
FEDERAL CASES	
<u>In re Winship</u> 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)7, 8	
<u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)6	
Johnson v. Louisiana	

# **<u>S TABLE OF AUTHORITIES</u> (CONT'D)**

3 - CE

Page		
<u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u> 508 U.S. 275, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993) 12		
<u>United States v. Johnson</u> 343 F.2d 5 (2d Cir. 1965)		
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES		
11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.01 (3d ed. 2008)		
Steve Sheppard, <u>The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt:</u> <u>How Changes in the Burden of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption</u> <u>of Innocence</u> , 78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165 (2003)		
RAP 2.5		
U.S. CONST. amend. V		
U.S. CONST. amend. VI		
U.S. CONST. amend. XIV		
Const. art. I, § 3		
WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INT'L DICTIONARY (1993)		

#### A. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

.

Washington's mandatory reasonable doubt instruction tells jurors they must be able to explain or articulate a reason for having a reasonable doubt. Like fill-in-the-blank arguments that Washington courts have rejected as prosecutorial misconduct, an instruction requiring the articulation of reasonable doubt undermines the presumption of innocence by shifting the burden of proof to defendants. Washington's reasonable doubt instruction is constitutionally infirm. Adan Isack Yusuf asks this court to reverse his convictions and remand for retrial before a jury that is properly instructed on the meaning of reasonable doubt.

#### B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The reasonable doubt instruction given by the trial court required jurors to have more than a reasonable doubt to acquit and shifted the burden to Yusuf to provide jurors with a reason for acquittal. This reasonable doubt instruction is constitutionally defective.

#### Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1. Did the reasonable doubt instruction stating a "reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists" tell jurors that they must have more than just a reasonable doubt to acquit?

2. Did the reasonable doubt instruction undermine the presumption of innocence and impermissibly shift the burden of proof by

telling jurors they must be able to articulate a reason to have a reasonable doubt?

3. Does erroneously instructing a jury regarding the meaning of reasonable doubt vitiate the jury-trial right, constituting structural error?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

In the evening of November 11, 2013, police responded to reports of a stabbing at the park located just south of the King County Courthouse. RP 252, 371, 386, 459, 519.

According to witnesses, Yusuf approached a group of homeless men and asked for a cigarette. RP 318-20, 404, 537. When he was told no, the witnesses said Yusuf's demeanor became aggressive. RP 320, 542, 546.

The exchange between Yusuf and Steven Alexander, one of the persons who was stabbed, quickly escalated to a physical altercation. RP 321, 340. Alexander testified Yusuf took out a piece of rebar and moved toward him with it. RP 321, 341-42, 350. Alexander said he grabbed the rebar from Yusuf and chased Yusuf away with his own piece of rebar. RP 341-42, 350. At some point during Yusuf's and Alexander's struggle. Alexander was stabbed twice in the shoulder blade. RP 328. Alexander could not remember precisely when he was stabbed. RP 337-38.

The physical altercation continued between Yusuf and the other person who was stabbed. Adam Beckman. Beckman stated he saw

-2-

Alexander and Yusuf arguing, noticed that Yusuf had a piece of rebar, and went over to help Alexander. RP 533-34. After this initial altercation, Beckman stated he had been stabbed but did not realize it. RP 541-42. Beckman said he saw Yusuf threatening others with a knife in his hand and so he ran over to tackle Yusuf. RP 542-43. Beckman repeatedly punched Yusuf in the face while Yusuf repeatedly stabbed Beckman. RP 543, 547.

•

In contrast to these accounts, Yusuf told investigating officers he stabbed Alexander and Beckman in self defense. Yusuf claimed a group of men attacked, strangled, and attempted to rob him. RP 404-05, 463. According to Yusuf, the men repeatedly punched him and took him to the ground, at which time he pulled out his knife and began stabbing the men. CP 97; RP 463.

Police arrested Yusuf and took him to Harborview to treat a stab wound to Yusuf's hand. RP 260, 388, 400-01. The State charged Yusuf with one count of first degree assault as to Beckman and one count of second degree assault as to Alexander. CP 1-2.

Based on the conflicting accounts of what happened, the trial court instructed the jury on self defense. CP 60-62. The trial court also gave the standard reasonable doubt instruction. WPIC 4.01.<sup>1</sup> which read. in part. "A

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.01, at 85 (3d ed. 2008).

reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence." CP 55.

The jury returned guilty verdicts on the first and second degree assaults. CP 68; RP 632-33. The jury also returned a special verdict form stating Yusuf was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of both assaults. CP 69; RP 633.

The trial court imposed a 156-month sentence. CP 78; RP 658. This consisted of concurrent, standard-range sentences of 120 months on the first degree assault and 15 months on the second degree assault, as well as 36-month deadly weapon enhancements that ran consecutively. CP 78; RP 658. Yusuf timely appeals. CP 84.

#### D. ARGUMENT

.

## THE MANDATORY JURY INSTRUCTION, "A REASONABLE DOUBT IS ONE FOR WHICH A REASON EXISTS," IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Yusuf's jury was instructed, "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence." CP 55: 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE: WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.01, at 85 (3d ed. 2008) (WPIC). The Washington Supreme Court requires that trial courts provide this instruction in every criminal case. at least "until a better instruction is approved." <u>State v. Bennett</u>, 161 Wn.2d 303, 318, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007). This instruction is constitutionally

defective because it requires the jury to articulate a reason to establish a reasonable doubt. In light of this serious instructional error, this court must reverse.

WPIC 4.01 is invalid for two reasons. First, it tells jurors they must be able to articulate a reason for having a reasonable doubt. This engrafts an additional requirement on reasonable doubt. Jurors must have more than just a reasonable doubt; they must also have an articulable doubt. This makes it more difficult for jurors to acquit and easier for the prosecution to obtain convictions. Second, telling jurors a reason must exist for reasonable doubt undermines the presumption of innocence and is effectively identical to the fill-in-the-blank arguments that Washington courts have invalidated in prosecutorial misconduct cases. If fill-in-the-blank arguments impermissibly shift the burden of proof, so does an instruction requiring exactly the same thing. Instructing jurors with WPIC 4.01 is constitutional error.

## 1. <u>WPIC 4.01's language improperly adds an articulation</u> requirement

Having a "reasonable doubt" is not, as a matter of plain English, the same as having a reason to doubt. But WPIC 4.01 requires both for a jury to return a not guilty verdict. A basic examination of the meaning of the words "reasonable" and "a reason" reveals this grave flaw in WPIC 4.01.

"Reasonable" is defined as "being in agreement with right thinking or right judgment : not conflicting with reason : not absurd : not ridiculous ... being or remaining within the bounds of reason ... having the faculty of reason : RATIONAL ... possessing good sound judgment ..." WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INT'L DICTIONARY 1892 (1993). For a doubt to be reasonable under these definitions it must be rational. logically derived, and have no conflict with reason. <u>Accord Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 317, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979) ("A 'reasonable doubt,' at a minimum, is one based upon 'reason.'"); <u>Johnson v. Louisiana</u>, 406 U.S. 356, 360, 92 S. Ct. 1620, 32 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1972) (collecting cases defining reasonable doubt as one ""based on reason which arises from the evidence or lack of evidence" (quoting <u>United States v. Johnson</u>, 343 F.2d 5, 6 n.1 (2d Cir. 1965))).

The placement of the article "a" before "reason" in WPIC 4.01 inappropriately alters and augments the definition of reasonable doubt. "[A] reason" in the context of WPIC 4.01. means "an expression or statement offered as an explanation of a belief or assertion or as a justification." WEBSTER'S, <u>supra</u>, at 1891. In contrast to definitions employing the term "reason" in a manner that refers to a doubt based on reason or logic, WPIC 4.01's use of the words "a reason" indicates that reasonable doubt must be capable of explanation or justification. In other words. WPIC 4.01 requires more than just a reasonable doubt; it requires an explainable, articulable, reasonable doubt.

1

Washington's reasonable doubt instruction is unconstitutional because its language requires more than just a reasonable doubt to acquit. <u>Cf. In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970) ("[W]e explicitly hold that the Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt ...."). Indeed, under the current instruction, jurors could have a reasonable doubt but also have difficulty articulating or explaining why their doubt is reasonable. A case might present such voluminous and contradictory evidence that jurors having legitimate reasonable doubt would struggle putting it into words or pointing to a specific, discrete reason for it. Yet, despite reasonable doubt, acquittal would not be an option.

Scholarship on the reasonable doubt standard elucidates similar concerns with requiring jurors to articulate their doubt:

An inherent difficulty with an articulability requirement of doubt is that it lends itself to reduction without end. If the juror is expected to explain the basis for a doubt, that explanation gives rise to its own need for justification. If a juror's doubt is merely, 'I didn't think the state's witness was credible.' the juror might be expected to then say why the witness was not credible. The requirement for reasons can all too easily become a requirement for reasons for reasons. ad infinitum. One can also see a potential for creating a barrier to acquit for less-educated or skillful jurors. A juror who lacks the rhetorical skill to communicate reasons for a doubt is then, as a matter of law, barred from acting on that doubt. This bar is more than a basis for other jurors to reject the first juror's doubt. It is a basis for them to attempt to convince that juror that the doubt is not a legal basis to vote for acquittal.

2.4

A troubling conclusion that arises from the difficulties of the requirement of articulability is that it hinders the juror who has a doubt based on the belief that the totality of the evidence is insufficient. Such a doubt lacks the specificity implied in an obligation to 'give a reason,' an obligation that appears focused on the details of the arguments. Yet this is precisely the circumstance in which the rhetoric of the law, particularly the presumption of innocence and the state burden of proof, require acquittal.

Steve Sheppard, The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in

the Burden of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence, 78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165, 1213-14 (2003) (footnotes omitted). In these various scenarios, despite having reasonable doubt, jurors could not vote to acquit in light of WPIC 4.01's direction to articulate a reasonable doubt. By requiring more than a reasonable doubt to acquit a criminal defendant, WPIC 4.01 violates the federal and state due process clauses. <u>Winship</u>, 297 U.S. at 364; U.S. CONST. amends. V, XIV; CONST. art. I, § 3.

## 2. <u>WPIC 4.01's articulation requirement impermissibly</u> <u>undermines the presumption of innocence</u>

"The presumption of innocence is the bedrock upon which the criminal justice system stands," <u>Bennett</u>, 161 Wn.2d at 315. It "can be

diluted and even washed away if reasonable doubt is defined so as to be illusive or too difficult to achieve." <u>Id.</u> at 316. To avoid this, Washington courts have strenuously protected the presumption of innocence by rejecting an articulation requirement in different contexts. This court should safeguard the presumption of innocence in this case.

In the context of prosecutorial misconduct, courts have proscribed arguments that jurors must articulate a reason for having reasonable doubt. Fill-in-the-blank arguments are flatly barred "because they misstate the reasonable doubt standard and impermissibly undermine the presumption of innocence." State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The Court of Appeals has repeatedly rejected such arguments as prosecutorial misconduct. See, e.g., State v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 731, 265 P.3d 191 (2011) (holding improper prosecutor's PowerPoint slide that read, "If you were to find the defendant not guilty, you have to say: 'I had a reasonable doubt[.]' What was the reason for your doubt? 'My reason was ."): State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 682, 684, 243 P.3d 936 (2010) (holding improper argument when prosecutor told jurors that they have to say, "I doubt the defendant is guilty and my reason is I believed his testimony that . . . he didn't know that the cocaine was in there, and he didn't know what cocaine was" and that "[1]o be able to find reason to doubt, you have to fill in the blank, that's your job" (quoting reports of proceedings)):

<u>State v. Venegas</u>, 155 Wn. App. 507, 523-24 & n.16, 228 P.3d 813 (2010) (holding flagrant and ill intentioned the prosecutor's statement "In order to find the defendant not guilty, you have to say to yourselves: "I doubt the defendant is guilty, and my reason is"—blank'" (quoting report of proceedings)); <u>State v. Anderson</u>, 153 Wn. App. 417, 431, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009) (finding improper prosecutor's statement that "in order to find the defendant not guilty, you have to say 'I don't' believe the defendant is guilty because,' and then you have to fill in the blank'" (quoting report of proceedings)).

.

Although it does not explicitly require jurors to fill in a blank, WPIC 4.01 implies that jurors need to do just that. Trial courts instruct jurors that a reason must exist for their reasonable doubt—this is, in substance, the same mental exercise as telling jurors they need to fill in a blank with an explanation or justification in order to acquit. If telling jurors they must articulate a reason for reasonable doubt is prosecutorial misconduct because it undermines the presumption of innocence, it makes no sense to allow the exact same undermining to occur through a jury instruction.

Outside the prosecutorial misconduct realm. Division Two recently acknowledged that an articulation requirement in a trial court's preliminary instruction on reasonable doubt would have been error had the issue been preserved. <u>State v. Kalebaugh</u>, 179 Wn. App. 414, 421-23, 318 P.3d 288.

<u>review granted</u>, 180 Wn.2d 1013, 327 P.3d 54 (2014). The court determined Kalebaugh could not demonstrate actual prejudice given that the trial court instructed the jury with WPIC 4.01 at the end of trial. <u>Id.</u> at 422-23. The court therefore concluded the error was not manifest under RAP 2.5(a). <u>Id.</u> at 424.

1.0

In sidestepping the issue before it on procedural grounds, the <u>Kalebaugh</u> court pointed to WPIC 4.01's language with approval. 179 Wn. App. at 422-23. In considering a challenge to fill-in-the-blank arguments, the <u>Emery</u> court similarly approved of defining "reasonable doubt as a 'doubt for which a reason exists.'" 174 Wn.2d at 760. But neither <u>Emery</u> nor <u>Kalebaugh</u> gave any explanation or analysis regarding why an articulation requirement is unconstitutional in one context but not unconstitutional in all contexts.<sup>2</sup> Furthermore, neither court was considering a direct challenge to the WPIC 4.01 language, so their approval of WPIC 4.01's language does not control. <u>See In re Electric Lightwave, Inc.</u>, 123

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The <u>Kalebaugh</u> court stated it "simply [could not] draw clean parallels between cases involving a prosecutor's fill-in-the-blank argument during closing, and a trial court's improper preliminary instruction before the presentation of evidence." But drawing such "parallels" is a very simple task, as both errors undermine the presumption of innocence by misstating the reasonable doubt standard. As the dissenting judge correctly surmised, "if the requirement of articulability constituted error in the mouth of a deputy prosecutor, it would surely also do so in the mouth of the judge." <u>Kalebaugh</u>, 179 Wn. App. at 427 (Bjorgen, J., dissenting).

Wn.2d 530, 541, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994) ("[Courts] do not rely on cases that fail to specifically raise or decide an issue.").

•

Just like a preliminary instruction to jurors that they must give a reason to have a reasonable doubt and just like a fill-in-the-blank argument, WPIC 4.01 "improperly implies that the jury must be able to articulate its reasonable doubt . . . ." <u>Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 760. By requiring more than just a reasonable doubt to acquit, WPIC 4.01 impermissibly undercuts the presumption of innocence. WPIC 4.01 is unconstitutional.

#### 3. WPIC 4.01's articulation requirement requires reversal

An instruction that eases the State's burden of proof and undermines the presumption of innocence violates the Sixth Amendment's jury-trial guarantee. <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. 275, 279-80, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993). Indeed, where, as here, the "instructional error consists of a misdescription of the burden of proof, [it] vitiates *all* the jury's findings." <u>Id.</u> at 281. Failing to properly instruct jurors regarding reasonable doubt "unquestionably qualifies as 'structural error." <u>Id.</u> at 281-82.

As discussed, WPIC 4.01's language requires more than just a reasonable doubt to acquit criminal defendants: it requires a reasonable, articulable doubt. Its articulation requirement undermines the presumption of innocence. WPIC 4.01 misinstructs jurors on the meaning of reasonable

doubt. Instructing jurors with WPIC 4.01 is structural error and requires reversal.

## E. CONCLUSION

.

.

Yusuf asks that this court reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial because the trial court gave a constitutionally deficient instruction on reasonable doubt.