FILED  
March 19, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

NO. 72056-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ADAN YUSUF,

Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE WILLIAM DOWNING

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG  
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney  
W554 King County Courthouse  
516 3rd Avenue  
Seattle, Washington 98104  
(206) 296-9000

**A. ISSUES PRESENTED**

On multiple occasions the Washington State Supreme Court has held that the language of WPIC 4.01 defining “reasonable doubt,” provides an accurate statement of the law. Has the defendant shown that the Supreme Court got it wrong, that these cases are “incorrect and harmful,” the standard required to overturn precedent?

**B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**1. PROCEDURAL FACTS**

The defendant was charged in count I with Assault in the First Degree, and in count II with Assault in the Second Degree. CP 1-2. Each count carried a deadly weapon sentencing enhancement. Id. A jury found the defendant guilty as charged. CP 68-69.<sup>1</sup> The defendant received a standard range sentence, plus the deadly weapon enhancements, for a total sentence of 156 months. CP 75-83.

---

<sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is cited as follows: 1RP—5/2, 5/5, 5/13 & 5/14/14; 2RP—5/15 & 5/19/14; 3RP—5/20/14; 4RP—5/21 & 5/22/14; and 5RP—5/23 & 6/13/14.

## **2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS**

The only issue raised in this case is the propriety of a single sentence in a single jury instruction. Thus, the substantive facts are not relevant to this appeal.

### **C. ARGUMENT**

#### **THE WPIC JURY INSTRUCTION DEFINING “REASONABLE DOUBT” IS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW**

The defendant asserts that the language of WPIC 4.01 defining “reasonable doubt” as “one for which a reason exists,” is a misstatement of the law and therefore his conviction (along with every other conviction where WPIC 4.01 has been given) must be reversed. This argument has no merit and was never raised below. The defendant fails to cite the plethora of Supreme Court and Court of Appeals cases that have upheld WPIC 4.01, and the language used therein, and he fails to show that these cases are “incorrect and harmful,” the standard required to overturn precedent.

#### **1. The Facts**

Here, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

The defendant is charged in two counts, Count I alleging the crime of assault in the first degree and Count II alleging the crime of assault in the second degree. Although these charges have been joined for trial, you must decide each count separately. Your verdict on one count should not control your verdict on the other count.

The defendant has entered pleas of not guilty to all charges. That plea puts in issue every element of each crime charged. The State, as the plaintiff, has the burden of proving each element of the charged crimes beyond a reasonable doubt.

The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists. A defendant in a criminal case is not compelled to testify and the fact that a defendant does not testify cannot be used as a basis for any inference by the jury and should not prejudice the defendant in any way.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

***A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence.*** It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 55 (Jury Instruction # 5) (emphasis added). It is the highlighted language to which the defendant complains. This language is from WPIC 4.01. The defendant did not raise an objection to the giving of this language. 4RP 478-83, 553, 572-89.

## **2. The Alleged Error Is Not Manifest Allowing For Appellate Review Absent An Objection**

An instructional error not objected to below may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a

constitutional right.” RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686-87, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (failure to instruct on “knowledge” was not manifest error). To obtain review, the defendant must show that the claimed error is of constitutional magnitude and that it resulted in actual prejudice. State v. O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98-99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009). A reviewing court will not assume that an error is of constitutional magnitude. Id. The court will look to the asserted claim and assess whether it implicates a constitutional interest as compared to another form of trial error. Id. If the claimed error is of constitutional magnitude, the court will determine whether the error is manifest. An error is manifest if it is “so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review.” O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100. Manifest also requires a showing of “actual prejudice.” Id. To demonstrate actual prejudice there must be a “plausible showing by the appellant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case.” Id.

The defendant never objected to the instructions given here. This bars review unless the defendant can prove the error is manifest constitutional error with identifiable consequences. See State v. Jacobson, 74 Wn. App. 715, 724, 876 P.2d 916 (1994); State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 342-44, 835 P.2d 251



(1992). Here, there can be nothing more than pure speculation that the alleged error -- the inclusion of the disputed language in the jury instructions -- had identifiable consequences. This is insufficient to allow for appellate review. State v. Donald, 178 Wn. App. 250, 271, 316 P.3d 1081 (2013) (This Court refused to hear Donald's argument regarding the "to convict" jury instructions because Donald failed to object below and failed to demonstrate prejudice as required under RAP 2.5.).

### **3. The Instructions Correctly State The Law**

Ignoring the instruction(s) as a whole, the defendant claims that the highlighted language actually shifts the burden of proof; in other words, that jurors would be led to believe that it is a defendant's burden to prove he or she is not guilty or that they must be able to write out their reason for acquittal. The Supreme Court has found otherwise.

Jury instructions are read as a whole and in a commonsense manner. State v. Bowerman, 115 Wn.2d 794, 809, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). A court will not assume a strained reading of an instruction. State v. Moultrie, 143 Wn. App. 387, 394, 177 P.3d 776, rev. denied, 164 Wn.2d 1035 (2008). The instructions are legally sufficient if they permit the parties to argue their theories of the

case, do not mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. State v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). The instructions must define reasonable doubt and convey to the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

The latest Supreme Court case to hold that the language of WPIC 4.01 is an accurate statement of the law is State v. Bennett, supra. In addressing a challenge to a substitute instruction to WPIC 4.01, the Court stated the following:

We have approved WPIC 4.01 and concluded that it adequately permits both the government and the accused to argue their theories of the case. . . Even if many variations of the definition of reasonable doubt meet minimal due process requirements, the presumption of innocence is simply too fundamental, too central to the core of the foundation of our justice system not to require adherence to a clear, simple, accepted, and uniform instruction. We therefore exercise our inherent supervisory power to instruct Washington trial courts not to use the Castle instruction. We have approved WPIC 4.01 and conclude that sound judicial practice requires that this instruction be given until a better instruction is approved. ***Trial courts are instructed to use the WPIC 4.01 instruction to inform the jury of the government's burden to prove every element of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt.***

Bennett, 161 Wn.2d at 317-18 (emphasis added).

The Bennett case is not the first time that the Court has ruled on similar language in jury instructions. As far back as 1901, the Supreme Court addressed the following instructional language which defined reasonable doubt as “**a doubt for which a good reason exists**, - a doubt which would cause a reasonable and prudent man to hesitate and pause in a matter of importance, such as the one you are now considering.” State v. Harras, 25 Wash. 416, 421, 65 P. 774 (1901) (emphasis added). In upholding the giving of the instruction, the Court stated that “[t]his instruction is according to the great weight of authority, and is not error.” Id.

In State v. Tanzymore, the Court addressed the then standard reasonable doubt instruction that provided in part that “[t]he jury is further instructed that the doubt which entitles the defendant to an acquittal **must be a doubt for which a reason exists**.” 54 Wn.2d 290, 291 n.1, 340 P.2d 178 (1959) (emphasis added). In rejecting a claim that the trial court should have given a different reasonable doubt instruction, the Court stated that “the court gave the standard instruction on reasonable doubt. This instruction has been accepted as a correct statement of the law for so many years, we find the assignment [of error] without merit.” Id. at 291; see also State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 658, 904 P.2d 245

(1995) (“the jury instruction here follows WPIC 4.01, which previously has passed constitutional muster”), accord, State v. Nabors, 8 Wn. App. 199, 202, 505 P.2d 162 (1973).

In State v. Thompson, the defendant challenged this exact same language “argu[ing] rather strenuously that this phrase (1) infringes upon the presumption of innocence, and (2) misleads the jury because it requires them to assign a reason for their doubt in order to acquit.” 13 Wn. App. 1, 4-5, 533 P.2d 395 (1975). In rejecting Thompson’s challenge the court stated:

Although we recognize that this instruction has its detractors, it was specifically approved in State v. Tanzymore, [...] and also in State v. Nabors, [...]. We are, therefore, constrained to uphold it. We would comment only that ***it does not infringe upon the constitutional right that a defendant is presumed innocent; but tells the jury when, and in what manner, they may validly conclude that the presumption of innocence has been overcome.***

***Furthermore, the particular phrase, when read in the context of the entire instruction does not direct the jury to assign a reason for their doubts, but merely points out that their doubts must be based on reason, and not something vague or imaginary.*** A phrase in this context has been declared satisfactory in this jurisdiction for over 70 years.

Id. (emphasis added).

The defendant fails to address, or even cite, to many of these cases. Instead, he tries to equate a misconduct case involving improper closing argument with the statement of the law as contained in the jury instructions. Specifically, he claims that the jury instruction improperly requires jurors to articulate a reason for having reasonable doubt — similar to the “fill-in-the-blank” argument that the Court held improper in State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). But the defendant’s argument fails under Emery, the very case upon which he principally relies.

In Emery, the Court held that the prosecutor committed misconduct telling the jurors that they had to articulate a reason for any doubt they found, i.e., to fill in the blank what their doubt was. But in finding that the argument itself was misconduct, the Court specifically noted that the prosecutor had “properly describ[ed] reasonable doubt as a ‘doubt for which a reason exists[.]’” 174 Wn.2d at 760. Emery only prohibits the misuse of this instruction by prosecutors in closing argument; but in so doing, it starts with the premise that the definition of reasonable doubt employed by WPIC 4.01 is correct.

The doctrine of stare decisis requires a "clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful" before precedent is abandoned. In re Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). "The test for determining if jury instructions are misleading is not a matter of semantics, but whether the jury was misled as to its function and responsibilities under the law." State v. Brown, 29 Wn. App. 11, 18, 627 P.2d 132 (1981). The defendant has failed to show that the Supreme Court's multiple decisions are wrong.